2001

James Wagner and Jim Wagner, INC. v. Nuskin  
International orp., Dennis Clifton, David Clifton,  
Clofton Assoc., INC., lars Lynge, and Gorm  
International Corp : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Appellants/Plaintiffs James Wagner and Jim Wagner, Inc. appeal from the Order of Dismissal issued on January 23, 2001 by the Honorable Gary D. Stott as a final judgment or order in this matter. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to Utah Code Annotated Section 78-2-2(3)(j) (1996).

Appellate jurisdiction exists under Section 78-2-2(3)(j) because the trial court's Order granting Appellees'/Defendants' Motion to Dismiss is a final judgment or order which adjudicates and determines all of the issues in the case. *See, Shurtz v. Thorley*, 90 Utah 381, 384, 61 P.2d 1262, 1264 (1936) ("a final judgment is a judgment that ends the controversy between the parties litigant"). The Order of Dismissal reserved no claims or issues for subsequent determination.

## **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The issue presented herein is whether the lower court erred in dismissing the case against defendants Dennis Clifton, David Clifton, Clifton Associates, Inc., Lars Lynge and Gorm International, for lack of personal jurisdiction where defendants were operating under Distributor Agreements with Nu Skin Corporation, whose policy and procedures mandate that all disputes, including disputes between distributors, shall be resolved in Utah and under the laws of Utah. The Court entered the Motion to Dismiss without a trial or an evidentiary hearing and without affording Appellants/Plaintiffs the opportunity to conduct discovery or cross examine witnesses. This issue is one of law and should be reviewed.



## **DETERMINATIVE RULES AND CENTRALLY IMPORTANT AUTHORITY**

The following rules and cases are determinative or of central importance with respect to the issues herein.

**A. Section 27 of the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures provides:**

The place or origin of the Contract, the place where the Company accepted the offer of a prospective Distributor to form the Contract, is the State of Utah. This Contract is to be construed, with respect to its validity and performance obligations thereunder, in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah applicable to contracts made and to be wholly performed within such State. A Distributor agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah for resolution of any conflict or litigation arising under or purporting to interpret the Contract.

**B. Section 30(b) of the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures provides, in part:**

In order to expedite the prompt resolution of any disputes which may arise under the Independent Distributor Agreement, Nu Skin International, Inc., has instituted a Mediation/Arbitration policy. This policy deals with the disposition of disputes arising out of the independent contractor relationship between Nu Skin International, Inc. and its independent contractors and/or disputes arising out of the relationship between Nu Skin International, Inc. independent contractors themselves.

**C. Gates Learjet Corp. v. B. Jensen, 743 F.2d 1325 (1984), cert. denied 471**

**U.S. 1066 (1985) controls where the court held that a distributorship agreement with a choice of forum clause was sufficient to exercise limited jurisdiction over the defendant.**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. NATURE OF CASE**

This appeal results from a dispute between several independent distributors of Nu Skin products. Appellants/Plaintiffs allege in their Complaint, among other things, that the various Appellees/Defendants, each of whom were Independent Distributors of Nu

Skin products, tortuously interfered with Plaintiff's economic relations by encouraging, enticing and otherwise assisting another distributor to sign up under a different sponsor. [R. at 1-23]. As a result of these activities, profits and commissions due to Plaintiffs were diverted to Defendants. The First Amended Complaint alternatively seeks an order to compel the Appellees/Defendants to participate in binding arbitration, according to the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures. [R. at 217-231].

The Motion to Dismiss was improperly granted where there is plainly a consent by all parties to the limited jurisdiction of the State of Utah regarding matters relating to the distributorship agreements herein.

## **II. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS**

Appellants/Plaintiffs originally filed their Complaint on March 29, 2000. [R. at 26]. On May 12, 2000, Appellees/Defendants David Clifton, Dennis Clifton and Clifton Associates, Inc., filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. [R. at 86]. On May 15, 2000, Appellee/Defendant Lars Lynge filed a separate Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. [R. at 105]. On May 18, 2000, Appellee/Defendant Gorm International, Inc. filed a third Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Personal Jurisdiction. [R. at 131]. On July 18, 2000, oral argument was heard before Judge Ray M. Harding, Jr. wherein he requested that Nu Skin submit an affidavit to the Court on the issue herein. [R. at 182].<sup>1</sup> On August 23, 2000, Nu Skin filed the affidavit of Richard M. Hartvifsen, Vice President of Regulatory Affairs, Nu Skin Enterprises. [R. at 241-245]. On August

---

<sup>1</sup> Nu Skin Corporation was originally named as a defendant herein. Plaintiffs and Nu Skin have stipulated to litigate the issues between them by arbitration as mandated by Section 30 of the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures.

29, 2000, Judge Harding recused himself from this case. [R. at 247]. On November 2, 2000, Judge Gary Stott held oral argument for the attorneys to present the case. No testimony was taken at this hearing, only argument by counsel. Thereafter, Judge Stott dismissed the case “for the reasons set forth in Defendants’ respective supporting memoranda and during oral arguments.” [R. at 271-272]. No specific findings of fact were made in the Order of Dismissal. [R. at 271-272]. A copy of the Order is attached to the addendum hereto as Exhibit “A”.

### **III. DISPOSITION IN THE TRIAL COURT**

In holding that there was no personal jurisdiction over the Appellees/Defendants, the trial court simply ignored the plain language of the Distributorship Agreements, Nu Skin Policies and Procedures and the affidavit of Richard M. Hartvigsen. By the very terms of the Nu Skin Distributorship Agreements, each distributor “agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the state of Utah for resolution of any conflict or litigation arising under or purporting to interpret the Contract.” [R. at 243]. The trial court had not legal basis or justification to ignore the plain language of the Distributorship Agreements and Nu Skin Policies and Procedures.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Plaintiffs and Defendants are each independent distributors of Nu Skin products.<sup>2</sup> [R. 1-23; 88; 90-91; 106-108]. Nu Skin Corporation is engaged in the distribution of

---

Nu Skin, through counsel, nevertheless attended the hearing before Judge Harding, as well as the later hearing before Judge Stott.

<sup>2</sup> Defendant Dennis Clifton is the Vice President of Clifton Associates, Inc. [R. at 90-91]. Defendant David Clifton is the President of Clifton Associates, Inc. [R. at 88]. Defendant Lars Lynge was the principal partner of Gorm International. [R. at 106-108].

cosmetic materials through what is commonly known as “multi-level marketing”. [R. at 1-23]. The Nu Skin business is grounded in personal business relationships between distributors and their upline sponsors and downline distributors. [R. at 244]. The claims in the Complaint that have arisen between the parties deal exclusively with their respective relationships to Nu Skin International Corp., and the policies and procedures applicable to each of them. [R. at 1-23; 242-244].

Each Nu Skin Distributor is required to enter into a Distributorship Agreement. [R. at 244]. The Distributorship Agreements provide a contractually agreed upon forum and jurisdiction to resolve distributor disputes in a timely and effective manner. [R. at 244].

Prior to recusing himself, the Honorable Ray Harding, Jr., requested that Nu Skin Enterprises submit an affidavit in this matter relating its position relative to the jurisdictional issue raised by Appellees/Defendants. Nu Skin Enterprises submitted the affidavit of Richard Hartvigsen, Vice President of Regulatory Affairs. A copy of Mr. Hartvigsen’s affidavit is contained in the addendum hereto as Exhibit “B”.

Mr. Hartvigsen notes the following:

“That in order to become and remain a Nu Skin distributor, a distributor enters into a distributorship agreement with Nu Skin, which agreement includes: the distributor agreement, the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures, the Compensation Plan and the Mediation/Arbitration Policies.”

[R. at 244].

Section 27 of the Policies and Procedures agreement with Nu Skin provides:

The place or origin of the Contract, the place where the Company accepted the offer of a prospective Distributor to form the Contract, is the State of Utah. This Contract is to be construed, with respect to its validity and performance obligations thereunder, in accordance with the laws of the

State of Utah applicable to contracts made and to be wholly performed within such State. A Distributor agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah for resolution of any conflict or litigation arising under or purporting to interpret the Contract.

[R. at 243].

Section 30(b) of the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures provides, in part, the following:

In order to expedite the prompt resolution of any disputes which may arise under the Independent Distributor Agreement, Nu Skin International, Inc., has instituted a Mediation/Arbitration policy. This policy deals with the disposition of disputes arising out of the independent contractor relationship between Nu Skin International, Inc. and its independent contractors and/or disputes arising out of the relationship between Nu Skin International, Inc. independent contractors themselves.

[R. at 40]. A copy of Section 30 is contained in the addendum as Exhibit “C” attached hereto.

According to Mr. Hartvigsen, “Section 27’s consent to jurisdiction in the State Court of Utah was intended to apply to all disputes arising under or purporting to interpret the Contract whether or not such a dispute was between Nu Skin and a distributor or two or more distributors themselves.” [R. at 243]. Furthermore, “the disputes between distributors as to rights and benefits from downline distributors, such as in this case, arise out of the distributor’s contract rights and interpretations of their distributor agreements.” [R. at 243].

Mr. Hartvigsen provided the following justifications for this policy:

“That Nu Skin intended in Section 27’s consent to jurisdiction to include disputes between distributors as any determination as a result of any litigation or arbitration would likely involve some action on the part of Nu Skin to align distributors in accordance with the final decision and would

potentially impact the company's future contractual dealings with other distributors."

"That given the international nature of the business, it was Nu Skin's intent to provide an agreed upon forum for all distributor disputes including those between distributors from different countries."

"That by contractually agreeing to jurisdiction in the courts of Utah, all distributors are assured a forum for prompt resolution of all disputes with Nu Skin or other distributors."

[R. at 242].

Finally, Mr. Hartvigsen opined that "the dispute raised by plaintiff in this matter is the type of dispute intended to be covered by the consent to jurisdiction provisions in section 27 of the Policies and Procedures." [R. at 242].

In their Motion to Dismiss, Defendants simply argued that they did not "transact business" in the State of Utah. [R. at 94-102]. No mention was made in the moving papers with respect to the Distributorship Agreements.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

The crux of Plaintiffs' position is simple: by soliciting the Distributorship Agreements and agreeing to be bound by the Nu Skin Policies and Procedures, each of the Defendants specifically consented to specific jurisdiction in the State of Utah pursuant to Utah Code Ann. Sec. 78-27-24 (1998). The trial court erred by ignoring the plain language of the Distributorship Agreements and Policies and Procedures governing the jurisdictional question raised herein.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **DEFENDANTS' CONSENTED TO SPECIFIC JURISDICTION IN THE STATE OF UTAH BY SIGNING THE DISTRIBUTORSHIP AGREEMENTS AND AGREEING TO BE BOUND BY NU SKIN'S POLICIES AND PROCEDURES**

Utah law recognizes two types of jurisdiction over non-residents: specific and general. A court may exercise specific jurisdiction if a non-resident defendant has purposefully directed his activities at residents in Utah and the litigation results from claims that arise out of, or relate to, those activities. *See*, Utah Code Ann. Section 78-27-24 (1998); Burger King Corp. v. Rudzewicz, 471 U.S. 472 (1985). The Court may exercise general jurisdiction where the non-resident's activities are "continuous and systematic." *See*, Helicopteros Nacionales de Columbia S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 416 (1984). However, the Court need not consider whether a defendant's activities rise to the level of "continuous and systematic" for purposes of due process considerations when a defendant consents to the jurisdiction of the forum state, as the defendants have in this case.

As distributors of Nu Skin products, Defendants explicitly agreed to be bound by Nu Skin's Policies and Procedures, as described by Nu Skin's Vice President of Regulatory Affairs, Richard M. Hartvigsen. Section 27 of the Policies and Procedures specifically states:

The place or origin of the Contract, the place where the Company accepted the offer of a prospective Distributor to form the Contract, is the State of Utah. This Contract is to be construed, with respect to its validity and performance obligations thereunder, in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah applicable to contracts made and to be wholly performed within such State. A Distributor agrees to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of the State of Utah for resolution of any conflict or litigation arising under or purporting to interpret the Contract.

[R. at 243; Nu Skin Policy and Procedure, Section 27]. Section 30 plainly indicates that the procedures apply to disputes between distributors.

Mr. Hartvigsen explains in detail the purpose and importance of this procedure, which is essential to the adhesive operation of the Nu Skin distribution and compensation system. This procedure, when adhered to, is largely responsible for the success of the Nu Skin system. Future adherence to the procedure is necessary for the continued success of the Nu Skin system.

In the absence of an agreed upon forum to resolve all disputes between distributors and Nu Skin, and between the distributors themselves, the Nu Skin system itself would be threatened. By consolidating all litigation matters here in Utah, regardless of where they arise, Nu Skin is assured of consistently handling the contractual dealings between the distributors. As noted in Mr. Hartvigsen's affidavit, disputes between distributors invariably involve some action on the part of Nu Skin in aligning distributors with the final decision. By contractually agreeing to jurisdiction in the courts of Utah, all distributors are assured a forum for the prompt and consistent resolution of claims.

The present case is similar to Gates Learjet Corp. v. B. Jensen, 743 F.2d 1325 (1984), cert. denied 471 U.S. 1066, wherein the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals held that by soliciting a distributorship agreement which contained a choice of forum clause subjected the defendant to limited jurisdiction.

In Gates Learjet Corp., an Arizona aircraft manufacturer filed suit against a non-resident defendant which related to a distributorship agreement which provided that it



was “an Arizona agreement and that it shall be governed by the laws of the State of Arizona . . . “ Id., at 1329. That agreement further stated that the “Courts of Arizona shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine all claims, disputes, actions or suits which may arise hereunder.” Id. In addressing the issue of whether there was “limited jurisdiction”,<sup>3</sup> the court noted the following factors:

- 1) The non-resident defendant must do some act or consummate some transaction with the forum or perform some act by which he purposefully avails himself of the privileges of conducting activities in the forum, thereby invoking the benefits and protections of its laws;
- 2) The claim must be on which arises out of or results from the defendant’s forum-related activities;
- 3) Exercise of jurisdiction must be reasonable.

Id. In analyzing the impact of the distributorship agreement on the jurisdictional issue, the Court noted that “Gates clearly satisfies the first prong of this test. Not only did Jensen solicit the distributorship agreement in Arizona, but also the agreement specifically provides that Arizona law governs it. The distributorship agreement, therefore, directly invokes the benefits and protections of Arizona law.” Id. at 1331. The Court concluded that “given these circumstances, Jensen should have reasonably anticipated “being haled into court” in Arizona.” Id.

In the present case, the Appellees/Defendants each solicited the distributorship agreement by voluntarily becoming independent distributors of Nu Skin and the Policies and Procedures mandate that Utah law applies and that the Utah courts will resolve all disputes between distributors. Given the plain language of the Policies and Procedures, Appellees/Defendants certainly could anticipate “being haled into court” in Utah. By

---

<sup>3</sup> The Court noted that the activities were not sufficient to subject defendant to general jurisdiction.

executing the Distributorship Agreement and being bound by its terms, Appellees/Defendants purposefully availed themselves of the privileges of conducting business in Utah.

With respect to the second prong of the analysis, there is no debate that these claims arise out of the Distributorship Agreements. Finally, the exercise of jurisdiction is reasonable in light of the Distributorship Agreements and Nu Skin's Policies and Procedures.