Original Brief Submitted to the Utah Supreme Court; digitized by the Howard W. Hunter Law Library, J. Reuben Clark Law School, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah; machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

David Jordan, Mark Hindley; Stoel Rives; attorneys for appellees.

Donald J. Purser, Edward W. McBride, Jr.; attorneys for appellants.

David Jordan

Mark Hindley

STOEL RIVES, LLP

One Utah Center, Suite 1100

201 South Main Street

Salt Lake City, UT 84111-4904

Attorneys for Appellees/Defendants Dennis

Clifton and David Clifton

-and-

Richard Mitchell

NORTON & LIDSTONE, P.C.

The Quadrant, Suite 850

3445 DTC Parkway

Englewood, CO 80111-3905

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After a second hearing of oral argument on this matter at which the trial court (1) indicated it had reviewed the complete file and (2) made findings of fact that the Cliftons had not consented to be sued by the Wagner Parties in Utah state court, the trial court

properly applied Utah state law under a standard of correctness when it found it did not have personal jurisdiction over the Cliftons. Further, to the extent that the Wagner Parties are challenging the factual findings of the trial court, the Wagner Parties have failed to marshal the evidence as required by U.A.P. 24(a)(9).

ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Correctly Applied Applicable Utah Law in Finding that the Cliftons Did Not Consent to Jurisdiction in the State of Utah for Purposes of the Wagner Parties' Action.

The Wagner Parties essentially argue that because the Wagner Parties had a contract with Nu Skin, and Dennis Clifton and Clifton Associates had (at least at some point) a similar agreement with Nu Skin, that a contractual consent to jurisdiction for litigation arising *vis-a-vis* Nu Skin and one of its distributors should be interpreted to be so broad in scope as to apply to litigation *vis-a-vis* disputes between distributors. [Aplt. Br. at 9-10]. To support this expansive interpretation, the Wagner Parties point to a separate and distinct mediation/arbitration provision in the Nu Skin distributor agreement that requires distributors to mediate disputes among themselves. [R at 40]. However, said mediation provision makes no reference to forum selection or jurisdiction. [R at 40]. Similarly, the forum selection clause governing jurisdiction for litigation where Nu Skin is a party refers only to disputes between Nu Skin and an individual distributor.

1. Utah Jurisdictional Law

Under certain circumstances, the courts of Utah may exercise both general and specific jurisdiction over non-resident defendants. However, given the stipulation between the parties that only the issue of consent was at issue, only the issue of specific jurisdiction need be addressed.

2. Specific Jurisdiction as It Relates to Forum Selection Clauses

In order for this Court to exercise specific personal jurisdiction over any of the Cliftons, Wagner Parties must demonstrate under a three-part specific jurisdiction analysis that (1) the Cliftons conducted one of the enumerated activities in Utah's "long-arm" statute Utah Code §78-27-24; (2) there is a nexus between the Wagner Parties' claim and the Cliftons' conduct; and (3) application of the Utah "long arm" statute must satisfy the requirements of federal due process. Far West Capital, 46 F.3d at 1074; Harnischfeger Eng'rs, Inc. v. Uniflo Conveyor, Inc., 883 F. Supp., 608, 612-13 (D. Utah 1995). To satisfy this burden, a plaintiff cannot rely on allegations made in its complaint if the defendant has specifically controverted alleged facts by affidavit. Anderson v. American Soc'y of Plastic and Reconstructive Surgeons, 807 P.2d 825 (Utah 1990); Roskelley & Co. Lerco, Inc., 610 P.2d 1307 (Utah 1980).

The Cliftons, either as a group or individually, have not transacted business within the state of Utah and have not conducted business with the Wagner Parties, either in

Utah, or elsewhere. Therefore, the Cliftons cannot be found to have “conducted business” in Utah under Utah’s long-arm statute.

To exercise jurisdiction consistent with the Due Process Clause of the 14th Amendment, a nonresident defendant must have “minimum contacts with the forum state such that maintenance of the suit does not offend ‘traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.’” International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945) (quoted in Arguello v. Industrial Woodworking Machine Co., 838 P.2d 1120, 1122 (Utah 1992)). The *International Shoe* standard is not met unless the defendants, through the contacts with the foreign state, could “reasonably anticipate being hauled” into the forum state’s courts for the action. See Asahi Metal Insus. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102, 108-09 (1987). Due Process demands that a defendants has “fair warning that a particular activity may subject [it] to the jurisdiction of the foreign state sovereign. Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 218 (1977). “Unilateral activity of the plaintiff in reaching beyond the forum cannot create jurisdiction.” Recovery Processes Int’l v. Hoechst Corp., 857 F. Supp. 863, 865 (D. Utah 1994).

The Wagner Parties’ attempt to extend the terms of a private contract it had with Nu Skin to cover the unrelated claims against the Cliftons is constitutionally impermissible. In making their respective agreements with Nu Skin, Dennis Clifton and Clifton Associates could not possibly “reasonably anticipate being hauled” into Utah’s state courts for the Wagner Parties’s action as is required for jurisdiction under the Due

Process Clause of the 14th Amendment. See Asahi Metal Insus. v. Superior Court, 480 U.S. 102, 108-09 (1987). Due Process demands that a defendant has “fair warning that a particular activity may subject [it] to the jurisdiction of the foreign state sovereign.” Shaffer v. Heitner, 433 U.S. 186, 218 (1977).

The Cliftons never had a contract with James Wagner or Jim Wagner, Inc., and their contract with Nu Skin cannot be reasonably nor constitutionally be interpreted to consent to jurisdiction for the Wagner Parties’ lawsuit. The Wagner Parties’ claims sound in tort and contract and are based on alleged actions which are alleged to have taken place outside the State of Utah, against parties located in Texas, and by parties located in Texas and Colorado. Therefore, the trial court properly found there to be no showing of consent to specific jurisdiction under the Wagner Parties’ theory because the Wagner Parties’ failed to show the Utah “long arm” statute was invoked by the Cliftons’ actions, there was no extant nexus between the Wagner Parties’ claim and the Cliftons’ conduct, and (3) given that there was no contract in place regarding a consent to jurisdiction between the parties, the application of the Utah “long arm” statute failed to satisfy the requirements of federal due process.

In short, the trial court could not have found a contractual consent to specific jurisdiction because there was no extant contract between the parties. However, even if the court had adopted the Wagner Parties’ argument that Dennis Clifton’s and Clifton Associates’ consent to litigate against Nu Skin in Utah should be deemed to create a

consent to jurisdiction applicable to the mediation/arbitration provisions covering all distributors world-wide, the trial court would have still correctly dismissed the case for lack of jurisdiction under a forum selection clause analysis.

3. Utah Jurisdiction and Forum Selection Clauses

In regard to the specific issue of contractual consents to jurisdiction, or forum selection clauses, the Utah Court of Appeals recently stated that a forum selection/personal jurisdiction clause by itself does is not sufficient to confer personal jurisdiction over a defendants as a matter of law. Phone Directories Co., Inc. v. Henderson, 8 P.3d 256, 259-61 (Utah 2000). Instead, the *Phone Directories* court found that such clauses create a presumption in favor of jurisdiction so long as there is a reasonable nexus between the forum selected and/or consented to, and either the parties to the contract or the transactions that are the subject matter of the contract. Id. In departing from the traditional three-part test for specific jurisdiction, the *Phone Directories* court recognized that persons may waive jurisdictional requirement or they may bind themselves to a certain jurisdiction. Id.

In the instant case, even assuming *arguendo* that the trial court should have found an applicable forum selection clause (which it did not), the trial court properly dismissed the case for lack of personal jurisdiction for two reasons. First, the Nu Skin forum selection clause applies by its terms only to disputes and litigation between Nu Skin and a distributor arising under the contract. [R at 93-102]. The forum selection clause is

separate and apart from the mediation/arbitration clause that addresses disputes between distributors. Secondly, under the *Phone Directories* “reasonable nexus” test, the forum selection clause would clearly apply only to litigated disputes between the Cliftons and Nu Skin. Had the trial court adopted the Wagner Parties’ theory and found applied the *Phone Directories* test to the facts, it would have concluded that actions which are alleged to have taken place outside the State of Utah, against parties located in Texas, and by parties located in Texas and Colorado could not establish a sufficient reasonable nexus between the forum and the parties or transaction to confer personal jurisdiction for litigation. At best, under the Wagner Parties’ theory, the trial court may have found jurisdiction proper for purposes of mediation/arbitration. There is no mediation or arbitration at issue here. The Wagner Parties commenced state court litigation against the Cliftons- not mediation or arbitration discussed in the inter-distributor dispute clause of the Nu Skin distributorship agreement.

The Wagner Parties’ reliance on their sole cited authority, Gates Learjet Corp. v. Jensen, 743 F.2d 1325 (1984) is neither binding on the court nor persuasive. The *Gates* case involved challenges to a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction on only two of a plaintiff’s four counts against the defendants concerning an international aircraft distributorship agreement. *Id.* at 1330. It is true that the *Gates* court found that entering into a “distributorship agreement” satisfied what is Arizona’s equivalent to Utah’s long arm statute. *Id.* at 1331. However, the facts of the *Gates* case are starkly distinguishable

from the facts surrounding the attenuated Clifton-Nu Skin-Wagner relationship. In *Gates*, unlike the instant case, the parties to the lawsuit were also parties to the contract containing the forum selection clause. *Id.* at 1330. Further, in analyzing the facts of that case under Arizona's specific jurisdiction analysis, the *Gates* court determined jurisdiction to be reasonable after finding, *inter alia*, that the parties were already required to litigate in Arizona for counts one and four of the plaintiff's complaint and the court noted that the case involved "corporate entities apparently with sufficient resources to defend in either [the United States or the Phillippines]." *Id.* at 1333.

Clifton Associates, Inc., is not a multi-national corporation, David Clifton is a party to no contract whatsoever concerning this case, the Cliftons are not required to litigate any action (save the instant case) in the State of Utah, and none of the Cliftons are party to a contract with the Wagner Parties.

Based on the findings of fact made by the trial court, any of the above legal analysis available to the court support the correctness of the trial court's decision that it did not have personal jurisdiction over the Cliftons.

4. David Clifton Has Not Consented to Utah Jurisdiction for Any Purpose

The Wagner Parties fail to address their own admission that David Clifton was not personally bound to any contract and therefore had not consented to jurisdiction under any contract. [R at 215-216]. Nor have the Wagner parties attempted to revive or brief their argument that David Clifton's position as one of four shareholders, and as an officer

and director of Clifton Associates, Inc., subject him to personal liability for contracts entered into by the corporation. The Cliftons note that a reviewing court will not address arguments that are not adequately briefed. State of Utah v. Jacoby, 975 P.2d 939, 944 (Utah App. 1999). However, because the Wagner Parties have nonetheless appealed the dismissal of David Clifton, this issue will be addressed briefly.

As stated above, Defendant David Clifton has no contract with Nu Skin and has at no time has he consented to Utah jurisdiction. The Plaintiffs, relying on Segil v. Gloria Marshall Management Co., have argued that David Clifton is subject to the same jurisdiction as Clifton Associates by virtue of the fact that he a director, officer and shareholder of Clifton Associates. 568 F. Supp. 915 (D. Utah 1983). However, in *Segil*, one person was the sole shareholder, an officer and director in complete control of a corporation found to be doing substantial and continuing business in Utah. *Id.* at 919. That case is inapplicable here as David Clifton is not the sole shareholder, officer, and director of Clifton Associates and does not have complete control of the company.² Furthermore, this Court has not made a finding that Clifton Associates is doing substantial and continuous business in the State of Utah, and the affidavits and authorities offered in the Cliftons Defendants original motion argue that such a finding cannot be made.

² David Clifton and his wife (both residents of Texas) and Dennis Clifton and his wife (both residents of Nevada) are equal shareholders of Clifton Associates, Inc.

B. The Wagner Parties Have Failed to Marshall Evidence With Regard to The Trial Court's Weighing of The Affidavit Submitted by Nu Skin.

It is not clear as to whether the Wagner Parties have appealed or are challenging the factual findings of the trial court. However, the Wagner Parties' appellant brief relies heavily on the affidavit submitted by Nu Skin for its argument and asserts that such affidavit was ignored by the trial court. [Aplt. Br. at 5-8, 10, and 12]. To the extent that this court deems such reliance amounts to an appeal of the factual findings of the trial court, the Wagner Parties have failed to marshall the evidence as required under Rule 24(a)(9) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

In reviewing a claim of insufficiency of evidence, a reviewing court does not, and will not, reweigh evidence and determine where in preponderates. Child v. Gonda, 972 P.2d 425, 434 (Utah 1999). It is an absolute requirement of marshaling that the party state fully and accurately all of the evidence on an issue and then show, as a matter of law, that the evidence does not support a particular finding. Id.

The Wagner Parties' failure to marshall the evidence is best illustrated by its assertion that the trial court "simply ignored the plain language of the Distributorship Agreements, Nu Skin policies and Procedures and the affidavit of [NuSkin]." [Aplt.B. at 5]. The Wagner Parties fail to cite the November 29, 2000 hearing transcript wherein the trial court queried the Wagner Parties regarding the affidavit, the language of the forum selection clause in the Nu Skin agreement, the absence of such language in the separate "Section 27" inter-distributor dispute mediation provision, and the lack of a forum

selection agreement between the Wagner Parties and any of the defendants. [R at 5-7].